į.,

FILED

AUG 17 2016

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Supreme Court No. 93479-7

Court of Appeals No. 72666-8-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE APPEARS DIV 1

IGNACIO MARIN,

Petitioner,

v.

KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

MANN & KYTLE, PLLC James W Kytle, WSBA 35048 Mary Ruth Mann, WSBA 9343 200 First Ave. W Suite 550 Seattle, WA 98119 (206) 587-2700 Attorneys for Petitioner

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Ignacio Marin is the Petitioner asking this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals Decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. DECISION FOR REVIEW

Petitioner Marin seeks review of the June 6, 2016 decision by the Court of Appeals, Div. I affirming a defense verdict, summary judgment and directed verdict rulings, in his Washington Law Against Discrimination [WLAD] July 11, 2016. The Decision and July 11, 2016 Order to Publish are in the Appendix to this Petition.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming a CR 50 directed verdict motion on a hostile work environment claim in contradiction to this Court's decision in *Hill v BCTI*, 144 Wash. 2d 172, (2001).
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming dismissal of Marin's RCW 49.60.210 retaliation claim on summary judgment, where the Court at the same time found sufficient evidence of a WLAD retaliatory hostile work environment claim, in light of *Burlington Northern v. White*, 548 U.S. 53 (2006) as adopted in *Boyd v. State*, 187 Wash. App. 1, 13-14 (2015)?
- 3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in holding that recording of conversations between a public employee and supervisor, which involve a workplace harassment complaint, discipline covered by *National Labor Relations Board v. Weingarten, Inc.*, 420 U.S. 251 (1975)" rights and unlawful threats, violated RCW 9.73.030?
- 4. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming discovery

sanctions against Petitioner?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an RCW 49.60 WLAD discrimination and retaliation case. Marin's claims of "different treatment" discrimination and retaliation were dismissed pre-trial on summary judgment. CP 1752-1757. The Court denied summary judgment on Marin's claims of a WLAD "Hostile Work Environment" (HWE) based on race, national origin, age, disability and retaliation, as well as a disability claim for "failure to make reasonable accommodation". CP 1752-1757 Trial started September 4, 2014. The HWE retaliation claim was dismissed on a CR 50 directed verdict ruling the day before closing. Trial ended September 24, 2014 in a defense verdict. RP 9/2512014 P. 96-99.

Petitioner Ignacio Marin ("Marin"), is a Peruvian born naturalized US Citizen with an accent, a licensed Boiler Operator and Certified Wastewater Treatment Operator. He worked in the Wastewater Treatment Division ("WTD") of King County at the West Point Treatment Plant (WPTP) for 26 years. He experienced, and complained about, racial hostility, different treatment from Caucasian coworkers, a hostile work environment, and retaliation. CP 1435-1449; 1424-34.

Suprs. James Sagnis and Mark Horton took over Marin's "D Crew" at the WPTP in 2007 through 2009, worsening the disparity Marin had long complained about on D Crew, including, *inter alia*, disparate assignment of the hardest "filthy" manual labor, public demeaning in person and by radio, resulting in increased anxiety and cardiac symptoms, and medical leave. RP 9/17/2014 P. 38,40; Decl. Cook CP 1424-1434

In April 2009 Horton bullied Marin to leave priority skilled Operator duties to do manual labor – to "dig grit". Exhs. 60, 61. Marin left work ill with high blood pressure and cardiac symptoms. On April 20, 2009 Marin complained to Sagnis about the harassment. Sagnis accused Marin of misconduct. Plant Mgr. Elardo, Sagnis, and HR exchanged emails, edits and rewrites preparing unwarranted, disparate discipline of Marin, delivered by Sagnis May 10, 2009. Exh.82 & 83; Exh.162; RP 9/09/2014 P.9; Exh. 86.

On May 11, 2009 the Operators Union filed Marin's grievance alleging no "just cause", harassment, and hostile work environment. Exh. 84. HR didn't take a complaint and nothing happened to remedy Marin's workplace or derail the unwarranted discipline.

June 2, 2009 Sagnis reported to Mgr. Elardo that Marin "has a witness" and an "excuse" for not digging grit. Exh. 86. Marin brought an attorney and on June 19, 2009 HR took down Marin's complaint of 20+years of WLAD disparate treatment, prior complaints, and hostile environment. A "chart" and "notes" were taken down by HR Managers

Ramsey and Milestone, See Exh. 87, OP 87 CP 3379-3410.

Marin was temporarily moved to the Renton Treatment Plant ('RTP") where HR told supervisor Alenduff Marin needed a "safe non-hostile environment" for about 3 weeks during an investigation at WPTP. CP 3379-3410, Exh. 89; RP 9/18/2014 P 20-21. Marin's temporary stay at RTP was extended indefinitely on July 21, 2009. Exh. 104. Marin would never be returned to WPTP – the plant he had operated for a quarter century.

Shortly after Marin's "temporary" transfer, Sagnis made overt retaliatory statements against Marin telling "D Crew" Marin "would not be coming back". RP 9/08/2014 P. 145, 147-148. In fall 2009 Marin was to return to D Crew. Exh.111. Prior to his return, HR's Ramsey documented to HR Dir. Milestone and WPTP Mgr. Elardo, that Sagnis said Marin's return "would not be pleasant", that Marin had "shit all over the crew", that he had "made his bed, now he would have to lie in it". Exh. 135. The County gave Sagnis minor discipline but left him in charge, a "remedy" they acknowledged prevented Marin's return to WPTP where he successfully operated for years. Exh. 135. Despite having determined that Marin could never return because of the retaliation, Mgt./HR in 2010 cynically "offered" Marin a return to Sagnis and "D Crew". RP 9/23/2014 P. 166-167.

From late 2009 to early 2011 Marin is at RTP in "no man's land" because of Sagnis' WLAD retaliation. RTP Mgr. Fischer wrote WTD management opposing permanent transfer of Marin to RTP because "the problem was caused at West Point ("WPTP") and should be solved at West Point", because Marin would be of "very little value" at RTP on crews, but he would be of "value at West Point because he has worked shift there for many years." Exh. 149. WTD Managers and Marin's C Crew at RTP knew it would take years for Marin to learn RTP. RP 9/10/2014 P.100-10; RP 9/22/2014 P.158. Marin was eligible for retirement in "less than 3 years." Exh. 85.

In 2010-2011 Marin declined to concede his May 2009 HWE/Harassment grievance or his June 2009 WLAD complaint on terms Mgr. Elardo "offered" which coupled a determination that there had been no discrimination, harassment or HWE at WPTP with an "offer" to remove the unfounded May 10, 2009 discipline. Exh. 162.¹

At RTP, Marin made WLAD "protected" reports that Alenduff's C Crew barred him from "touching" equipment"; refused training and he had no meaningful work, that he took his earned leave for a month rather

¹ WPTP had further reason to remove Sagnis and Horton and allow Marin's return in late 2009-2010. Sagnis and Horton were found culpable for a massive (Exxon Valdez sized) raw sewage spill into Puget Sound from WPTP. Horton was fired. Sagnis, disciplined again, remained over D Crew, blocking Marin's return. CP. 2947-2948; 2657-2658. The trial court excluded this evidence from the jury.

than sit without work. Supr. Alenduff and Electrical Supr. Davidson knew Marin reported to WTD seeing Alenduff show sexual computer images to an offended female custodian, for which Alenduff was disciplined. RP 9/23/2014 P.68-69. Marin was distraught on C Crew and found crying by Supr. Reed. RP 9/23/2014 P.171-172. During fall 2010 HR set the date for a mediation of Marin's WLAD complaints for late January 2011. During that interim, Marin was rendered ill with anxiety and panic after supervisory encounters and write-ups including one that threatened termination for not knowing hazardous energy lock out tag out (LOTO) procedures for "every piece of equipment" at RTP. Exh.205, Exh.206; Exh.598; Exh.209; Exh.262. The write up, different from the usual local "TLC" ("Teach Lead Coach") memos which did not threaten discipline and were designed to help an employee do better, RP 9/9/2014 P.9-10, had been written by WTD HR attorney Hillary, and cleared by the KC Prosecutors office, in a way that Marin would have no right to grieve it. RP 9/09/2014 P.10. Medical and legal "protected activity" efforts to get accommodations for his anxiety, the environment and threatening letter were "reasonable", but unsuccessful. Marin, out of available leave, could not take any it anymore and took a financially reduced early retirement. Exh 232, RP 9/17/2014 P.70-75.

At meetings with Sagnis April 20 and May 10, 2009, before

Marin had counsel, Marin recorded the meetings. The court concluded the recordings violated RCW 9.73.030, excluded testimony about the content of the conversations, and sanctioned Marin's counsel for not providing the recordings prior to the deposition of Sagnis. CP 1089-1097. Sagnis had lied in his deposition saying Marin's illness was "bullshit, absolute bullshit", inter alia, CP64, CP 831, CP 896., and Sagnis "corrected" his deposition from the recording, CP 284-287, CP 2632. Marin could not use Sagnis' retaliatory anger or threats against using medical leave at trial. KC withheld impeaching documents by Sagnis to HR and Elardo until after Sagnis' deposition, but Marin's motions for sanctions were denied, CP 825-839,1098 and the Court even redacted Sagnis' draft discipline documents of impeaching evidence. Exh.68 P.1,5; OP Exh.68 P.1,5 CP 3365, 3369; Exh.70 P.2; OP Exh.70 P.2 CP 3373; Exh.71 P.2, OP Exh.71 P.2 CP 3376.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. Review should be accepted because the grant of the CR 50 motion dismissing the "Retaliation" basis for Marin's HWE claim was erroneous and contrary to *Hill v. BCTI*, *infra*.

Under CR 50, "judgment as a matter of law is only appropriate when no substantial evidence or reasonable inference would sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party." *Corey v. Pierce County*, 154 Wn. App. 752,760, 225 P.3d 367 (2010)

"...[O]nce a trial court concludes that an employment discrimination claim cannot be resolved as a matter of law short of a trial, no directed verdict should issue before both parties' witnesses have been duly examined and cross-examined and both parties have set forth their evidence.

...

"Whenever a party is entitled to a verdict, it should be granted [...], but when the erroneous grant of directed verdict to a defendant will require a new trial, and particularly where there is extensive evidence and debate as in this case, it is a wise exercise in judicial economy to let the jury decide the matter and then to grant a judgment n.o.v., rather than court the prospect of trying the entire matter again as to that defendant, with resulting prejudice to all parties."; (cites omitted)

Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I,144 Wash. 2d 172,187 fn. 9, 23 P.3d 440 (2001) overruled on other grounds by McClarty v. Totem Elec., 157 Wash.2d 214, 137 P.3d 844 (2006)

The trial court denied summary judgment on the HWE retaliation claim. CP1756. Nevertheless, a few minutes before Noon on Sept. 24, 2014 the County's CR 50 motion for DV was granted at the close of the evidence. Closings were at 9 a.m. the following day. In granting CR 50 dismissal the trial court stated as follows:

In terms of the retaliation or implying that there hasn't been shown a foundation for retaliation, that there is no showing of harassment, after a person has learned of a complaint of discrimination, and I will grant the motion as to retaliation.

RP 9/24/2014 P. 98:18-22.

The trial court found sufficient evidence of a WLAD "hostile work environment" to go to the jury on all other "protected status". Element (2) provides the only distinction - whether a reasonable person could conclude Marin's "protected activity" was a causal factor in that hostile work

environment.

The four elements for hostile work environment are: (1) the harassment was unwelcome; (2) the harassment was "because of" a protected status; (3) the harassment affected the terms or conditions of employment, meaning that it was sufficiently pervasive so as to alter the conditions of employment and create an abusive working environment, a question to be determined with regard to the totality of the circumstances; and (4) the harassment is imputed to the employer.

Robel v. Roundup Corp., 148 Wn.2d 35, 45, 59 P.3d 611 (2003); Glasgow v. Georgia-Pacific Corp., 103 Wn.2d 401, 406–07, 693 P.2d 708 (1985);

[W]here an owner, manager, partner or corporate officer personally participates in the harassment, this (4) fourth element is met by proof of management status. *Glasgow*, 103 Wash.2d at 407, 693 P.2d 708. (emphasis added).

The trial court dismissed Marin's claim of retaliation-based hostile work environment because it determined that Marin presented no evidence that anyone harassed him after knowing about his protected activity.

Op. at 24.(emphasis added)

The Court of Appeals disregarded the evidence and inferences of knowledge and participation of managers, supervisors and coworkers using a standard contrary to established Washington law. The evidence, establishes management's² and supervisors' knowledge of Marin's

Management knowing of protected activity and participating included *inter alia*, WTD HR Dir. Milestone, HR Ramsey, HR Hillary, KC Prosecutor's Office, WTD Plant Mgr Elardo (WPTP) later WTD Mgr., RTP Plant Mgr Fisher, KC Safety Mgr. Faccone. Supervisors include Sagnis, Horton (WPTP) Alenduff, Reed (RTP) and Davidson (RTP/Supr. Union Rep)

participated in and ratified actions causing Marin's work environments at WPTP and RTP to be retaliatory, and hostile aggravating his health, causing his early retirement:

- 1. Management knows Marin reported harassment when they help Sagnis prepare the May 10, 2009 discipline. Exhs. 65, 67, 69 p.2, 78.
- 2. Management knows of Marin's May 11, 2009 HWE grievance, his June 19, 2009 formal WLAD Complaints; his bringing an attorney to meet with management on WLAD issues at WPTP and RTP, Exh 87 and OP 87 CP 3379-3410; and Marin's active adherence to his WPTP "protected" complaints through 2011. Exh. 169.
- 3. Management knew Sagnis' extreme retaliatory animus toward Marin ("it wouldn't be pleasant" "he had shit all over the crew" and "he had made his bed and he would have to lie in it"), made WPTP too hostile for Marin. Exh.135,CP 1490–1491.
- 4. Management made Marin's transfer to RTP permanent knowing Marin would be unwanted, "of little value" and unable to learn the plant; "because of" Marin's protected activity and the choice to keep retaliatory Supr. Sagnis in charge. Exhs.149, 67, 82, 83; Exh.135; RP 9/17/2014 P.43-44.

- 5. HR and management pretextually discuss with Marin returning to WPTP and Sagnis, knowing WPTP is a retaliatory hostile environment for Marin "because of" Sagnis animus. Exh.135, Exh.149, RP 9/23/2014 P.166-167, RP 9/10/2014 P.100-101, RP 9/22/2014 P.158, See also Exh.160, RP 9/9/2014 P.149-150
- 6. Management made Marin permanent at RTP without telling him that he was unwanted by management, was he was "of little use" on crews there, it would take years for him to learn the RTP, beyond when he could retire in as little as three years. Exh. 149, RP 9/10/2014 P. 100-10; RP 9/22/2014 P. 158, Exh. 85.
- 7. Manager Elardo tried to get Marin to concede a finding of no discrimination or HWE at WTPT knowing Marin was harassed and disciplined though "he was legitimately engaged in other work activities". Exh.162
- 8. In Fall 2010 management scheduled mediation of Marin's unresolved "protected activity" grievance and complaints for January 2011. During the interim HR and Supr. Reed draft write-ups and confront Marin, including a "threat of termination" if he cannot "lock out every piece of equipment" at RTP, an unreasonable and unlawful requirement. Exh.206, RP 9/16/2014 P.14, RP 9/11/2014 P.155-156.

Thus Marin's direct evidence of retaliation, of management's

knowledge of his ongoing protected activity, and of management's participation in creating the unremedied hostile work environments at WPTP and RTP, *inter alia*, require that the "retaliation" claim go to the jury.

An adverse employment action... includes a demotion or adverse transfer, or a hostile work environment. *Kirby v. City of Tacoma*, 124 Wash.App. 454, 465, 98 P.3d 827 (2004) (quoting *Robel v. Roundup Corp*, 148 Wash.2d 35, 74 n. 24, 59 P.3d 611 (2002)). The employee must show that a reasonable employee would have found the challenged action materially adverse, meaning that it would have "'dissuaded a reasonable worker from making or supporting a charge of discrimination.' "*Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. White*, 548 U.S. 53, 68, 126 S.Ct. 2405, 165 L.Ed.2d 345 (2006) (quoting *Rochon v. Gonzales*, 438 F.3d 1211, 1219 (2006)).

Federal law provides that context matters in analyzing the significance of any given act of retaliation because "'[a]n act that would be immaterial in some situations is material in others.' "Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co., 548 U.S. at 69, 126 S.Ct. 2405 (quoting Wash v. Illinois Dep't of Revenue, 420 F.3d 658, 661 (7th Cir.2005)). Accordingly, whether a particular action would be viewed as adverse by a reasonable employee is a question of fact appropriate for a jury. See Burlington, 548 U.S. at 71–73, 126 S.Ct. 2405.

Boyd v. State, Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs. 187 Wash App. 1,13-14 (2015) (emphasis added) (cites omitted)

The CR 50 motion should not have been granted as to "retaliation", and further evidence of pre-statute "notice" of protected activity and retaliatory HWE should have been admitted giving the jury a full and fair picture of protected activity and WTD's retaliatory environment. OP of

unredacted Exh.87 CP 3379-3410.

2. The Decision Conflicts with Court of Appeals cases specifying 'adverse actions' sufficient to support WLAD retaliation claims, in light of *Burlington Northern v. White*, 548 U.S. 53 (2006) as adopted in *Boyd v. State*, 187 Wash.App.1 (2015)

WLAD case law no longer requires an employee to show adverse action that "includes reducing employee's workload and pay" to prevent summary dismissal of a WLAD retaliation claim, Op. at 15, particularly where the Marin court on summary judgment found evidence of a retaliatory HWE claim. Marin's evidence established, a hostile work environment, an adverse transfer and imposition of impossible performance standards which caused illness and unwanted retirement. CP 1752-1757 Management and Sagnis prepared the unwarranted discipline for Marin's standing up, to the point of illness, to a discriminatory pattern of being bullied to do the hardest filthy manual labor instead of "priority Operator's work". Sagnis made extreme retaliatory statements threatening to Marin, but management left Sagnis in charge, adversely transferring Marin to RTP, where he was unwanted, untrained, "of little value" and it would take more than his remaining "worklife" to learn. After Marin's "protected activity" at RTP, management wrote an abnormal, ungrievable write-up threatening termination, with impossible, unsafe, standards to reaggravate Marin's anxiety, panic, and cardiac symptoms, exhausting his available leave and causing unwanted early retirement. Under the prevailing post-*Burlington* view, whether such actions would be viewed as "adverse" by a reasonable employee is a question of fact appropriate for a jury. *Boyd v. State, Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs*. 187 Wash App. 1,13-14 (2015) citing *Burlington*,548 U.S. at 71–73.

3. The Decision Conflicts with this Court's Clear Holdings that the Privacy Act Protects Only Secret Communications.

The Privacy Act applies "only to private communications or conversations." *State v. Clark*, 129 Wn.2d 211, 224, 916 P.2d 384 (1996). This Court has defined "private" to have its ordinary and usual meaning:

"i.e., belonging to one's self ... SECRET ... intended only for the persons involved (a conversation) ... holding a confidential relationship to something ... a secret message: a private communication ... SECRETLY: not open or in public.

State v. Kipp, 179 Wn.2d 718, 729, 317 P.3d 1029 (2014) (citations omitted)

As this Court has held, to establish a communication is "private," a party must prove (1) the parties overtly manifested a subjective expectation that the communications be private or secret and (2) the expectation was objectively reasonable under the circumstances. See *State v. Modica*, 164 Wn.2d 83, 88,186 P.3d 1062 (2008); *State v. Christensen*, 153 Wn.2d 186, 193, 102 P.3d 789 (2005); *State v. Townsend*, 147 Wn.2d 666, 673, 57 P.3d 255 (2002). Because a party invoking the Privacy Act

predictably "will contend that his or her conversation was intended to be private," a self-serving declaration will not suffice. *Clark*, 129 Wn.2d at 225; *Lewis v. State, Dep 't of Licensing*, 157 Wn.2d 446,458-59, 139 P.3d 1078 (2006). Instead, the Court looks both to contemporaneous manifestations of intent and factors showing

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