RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Sep 09, 2016, 1:55 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No. 93479-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IGNACIO MARIN, Petitioner,

v.

KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON Respondent,

RESPONDENT KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON'S ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Patricia A. Eakes, WSBA #18888 Damon C. Elder, WSBA #46754 Calfo Eakes & Ostrovsky PLLC 999 Third Avenue, Suite 4400 Seattle, WA 98104

Tel: (206) 294-7399
Fax: (206) 623-8717
pattye@calfoeakes.com
damone@calfoeakes.com
Counsel for Respondent

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

IV. ARGUMENT

King County requests that the Court deny plaintiff's petition for review. His decision not to invoke any of the standards governing review is eloquent testimony to the fact that those standards are not satisfied here. Moreover, as the Court of Appeals found, plaintiff's arguments on the merits are both legally flawed and inconsistent with the record.

A. Plaintiff's Appeal Does Not Satisfy the Standards for Review.

The Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure would permit discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' decision "only" if one of the following circumstances were met:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

***** 17 *

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). In his petition, plaintiff does not cite any of these standards for review and presents no argument as to why they could be satisfied. The reason is obvious. There is no inconsistency between the Court of Appeals' decision in this case and any other published Washington precedent. Further, this is a routine employment discrimination case which does not involve *any* question of Constitutional law, nor any "issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Plaintiff's request for discretionary review is without merit.

B. Plaintiff's Arguments on the Merits Are Also Erroneous.

Plaintiff's petition focuses solely on the substance of the issues he seeks to present for review. These arguments are likewise meritless.

1. The Court of Appeals Correctly Affirmed the Directed Verdict on Plaintiff's Retaliatory Hostile Work Environment Claim.

The Washington Law Against Discrimination ("WLAD") prohibits retaliation based on protected conduct. Washington courts have defined the scope of such conduct narrowly: the making of complaints is only "protected" if the employee explicitly complains about *discrimination* based on protected class. *See Alonso v. Qwest Commc'ns. Co.*, 178 Wn.

App. 734, 754, 315 P.3d 610 (2013) (a complaint "does not rise to the level of protected activity . . . absent some reference to the plaintiff's protected status."). Further, the plaintiff must establish a "causal link" between the employer's alleged misconduct and the plaintiff's "protected activity," which necessarily requires a showing that the "individuals [plaintiff] alleges retaliated against him knew of his protected activity." Op. at 24 (citing *Currier v. Northland Servs., Inc.*, 182 Wn. App. 733, 746-47, 332 P.3d 1006 (2014) and *Alonso*, 178 Wn. App. at 753-54).

When a plaintiff grounds a hostile work environment claim on allegations of retaliation, rather than simply pursuing a stand-alone retaliation claim, the plaintiff also must prove the traditional elements of a hostile work environment. Thus, plaintiff bears the burden to prove that he experienced "severe or pervasive harassment in retaliation for engaging in protected activity." *Noviello v. City of Boston*, 398 F.3d 76, 92 (1st Cir. 2005). In that context, "[i]t is only those actions, directed at a complainant, *that stem from a retaliatory animus* which may be factored into the hostile work environment calculus." *Id.* at 93 (emphasis added). Where an alleged harasser is unaware of the plaintiff's protected conduct, their actions cannot form the basis for a retaliatory hostile work environment as a matter of law:

[T]here must be, at a minimum, . . . competent evidence that the alleged retaliators *knew* of the plaintiff's protected activity and that a retaliatory motive played a part in the adverse employment actions. . . . The reasons underlying such a requirement are obvious: if a supervisor or other employee is unaware of the fact that a plaintiff engaged in protected conduct, any actions attributable to him could not plausibly have been induced by retaliatory motives.

Alvarado v. Donahoe, 687 F.3d 453, 459-60 (1st Cir. 2012) (quotations and citations omitted; emphasis in original).

The trial court and the Court of Appeals applied these basic principles under the WLAD. Specifically, the trial court directed a verdict for King County on the retaliation component of plaintiff's hostile work environment claim only after finding that "Marin presented no evidence [at trial] that anyone harassed him after knowing about his protected activity." See Op. at 24. The Court of Appeals carefully reviewed the record and affirmed, holding that "[t]he record supports that finding[.]" Id.

Plaintiff now challenges the Court of Appeals' ruling, asserting in his "Issues Presented for Review" that it is inconsistent with this Court's decision in *Hill v. BCTI*, 144 Wn.2d 172, 23 P.3d 440 (2001). But plaintiff never even tries to explain this supposed inconsistency. Plaintiff quotes a lengthy excerpt from *Hill*, but does not clarify its significance. *See* Pl.'s Mot. at 8. In reality, this Court's opinion in *Hill* did not address

the issues presented in this appeal. To the extent plaintiff is trying to use the quoted excerpt to argue that "no directed verdict should issue" in an employment case "before both parties...have set forth their evidence," *Hill*, 144 Wn.2d at 187 n.9, it is beside the point. As plaintiff admits, the trial court did not issue a directed verdict in this case until after both parties had rested. Pl.'s Mot. at 8 (the directed verdict "was granted at the close of the evidence"). And to the extent plaintiff relies on *Hill* for the proposition that a directed verdict is *never* appropriate in an employment case, his theory is directly contrary to the language he quotes. *See* Pl.'s Mot. at 8 (quoting that, "[w]henever a party is entitled to a verdict, *it should be granted*...") (emphasis added).

Instead of providing any meaningful discussion of *Hill*, plaintiff focuses instead on an argument that the Court of Appeals "disregarded the evidence and inferences" ostensibly supporting his claim. Pl.'s Mot. at 9. That too is incorrect. In fact, the Court of Appeals combed through the long and complex record in careful detail. Op. at 24-25. Based on that review, the Court of Appeals agreed with the trial court in finding that "Marin's evidence was not sufficient for any rational juror to find retaliatory animus." *Id.* at 25. The Court explained: "Nowhere does [plaintiff] point to an individual who both knew of his protected activity

· · (13)

and, afterward, took some action that could reasonably be construed as harassment." *Id.*

Plaintiff does not acknowledge these findings in his petition for discretionary review. Instead, he simply reasserts many of the same factual arguments that the Court of Appeals considered and rejected.

Plaintiff's disagreement with the Court of Appeals' reading of the record does not warrant Supreme Court review.

Plaintiff's characterization of the record is also substantively inaccurate. For example, plaintiff argues that he was subjected to a retaliatory hostile work environment because "[m]anagement made Marin's transfer to [the South Plant in Renton] permanent," rather than returning him to the West Point treatment plant in Seattle where he had worked for 25 years. See Pl.'s Mot. at 10. Plaintiff also made this argument in front of the Court of Appeals, but he simultaneously argued the opposite: he claimed that King County subjected him to a hostile work environment by telling him "that he was 'welcome to go back to West Point D Crew." Op. at 25. The Court of Appeals rejected this contortion. Specifically, after reviewing the portions of the record cited by plaintiff, it found that he based these arguments "on the County offering him a choice of remaining at South Plant or returning to West Point," and it concluded that "[n]o reasonable juror could interpret those offers to accommodate

Marin as harassment. . . . " Op. at 25 (emphasis added).² There is no reason to believe that this Court would reach a different result if it were to grant discretionary review.

In sum, plaintiff has not identified any inconsistency between the Court of Appeals' ruling and any other precedent, nor has he demonstrated any other error meriting review.

2. The Court of Appeals Correctly Affirmed Summary Judgment on Plaintiff's Retaliation Claim.

Plaintiff next argues that the Court of Appeals erred by affirming summary judgment for King County on his stand-alone retaliation claim. His theory is that the Court of Appeals applied a higher standard than appropriate for assessing the adverse employment action element of that claim. Pl.'s Mot. at 13-14. But, contrary to the contentions in his brief, the Court of Appeals did *not* hold that plaintiff was required to prove a reduction in "workload or pay" to demonstrate an adverse employment action. *See id.* Rather, the Court of Appeals held only that plaintiff was required to demonstrate "a change in employment conditions that is more than an 'inconvenience or alteration of job responsibilities," and it listed a

² By way of additional example, Marin claims that "[m]anagement knows Marin reported harassment when they help Sagnis prepare the May 10, 2009 discipline." Pl.'s Mot. at 10. In support of that notion, he cites emails between Human Resources and Disability Services analysts regarding the County's efforts to accommodate him, as well as notes taken by an Employee Assistance Program counselor, Tony Hansen, and a Disability Services analyst, Carol Gordon. *Id.* (citing Exs. 65, 67, 69, and 78). Plaintiff cites no evidence that people who were named in these exhibits subsequently harassed him.

reduction in "workload and pay" as one example of such a change. Op. at 15. This standard is consistent with a long line of Washington precedent, including cases cited by both sides. *See, e.g., Boyd v. State*, 187 Wn. App. 1, 13, 349 P.3d 864 (2015) ("An adverse employment action involves a change in employment that is more than an inconvenience or alteration of one's job responsibilities."); *Kirby v. City of Tacoma*, 124 Wn. App. 454, 465, 98 P.3d 827 (2004) (similar). The entire premise of plaintiff's appeal on this issue is therefore based on a misconception of the Court of Appeals' ruling.

The Court of Appeals also correctly found that plaintiff's cited evidence did not meet this standard. As the Court noted, plaintiff's briefing primarily relied on evidence from trial, which was improper in challenging the trial court's summary judgment ruling. See Op. at 12 n. 20 ("In arguing he created a genuine issue of material fact as to adverse employment actions, Marin again cites primarily to portions of the trial record, which is not an appropriate basis for review."). Further, the Court of Appeals found that plaintiff mischaracterized the record in support of his argument that he suffered an adverse employment action. *Id.* ("None of the actions he points to, many of which he misrepresents, amount to a

tangible change in employment status.").³ Plaintiff does the same thing in his petition for discretionary review. Indeed, in the two pages plaintiff dedicates to this issue in his petition, he does not cite a single piece of evidence.⁴

In any event, even if plaintiff had articulated a viable argument for error, no purpose would be served by Supreme Court review of this issue. The Court of Appeals identified multiple, independently sufficient grounds for affirming summary judgment on plaintiff's retaliation claim—and the lack of an adverse employment action was just one of them. Op. at 16-18. The Court of Appeals also held that summary judgment was proper because "Marin failed to show that his protected activity caused or was a 'substantial factor' in the County taking any of the alleged adverse employment actions." Op. at 16 (emphasis added). And, summary judgment was warranted because "Marin failed to show any evidence of pretext for retaliation." *Id.* at 17. Plaintiff does not challenge these alternative grounds for summary judgment in his petition for review, which means that they are now final. It would make no sense for this

³ The Court of Appeals made this finding in response to plaintiff's argument that he suffered an adverse action in connection with his disparate treatment claim, Op. at 12, but it logically carries over to plaintiff's argument that he suffered an adverse action on his retaliation claim because plaintiff relied on the same evidence for both. See id. at 15.

⁴ Plaintiff's only citation to the Clerk's Papers references the trial court's November 20, 2013 Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. See Pl.'s Mot. at 13 (citing CP 1752-1757).

Court to review <u>one</u> ground for the Court of Appeals' decision on plaintiff's retaliation claim, knowing that it would have no impact on the dismissal of that claim overall.

113.44

3. The Court of Appeals Correctly Affirmed the Exclusion of Marin's Secret Recordings of Private Meetings.

Before filing this lawsuit, Marin secretly tape recorded two oneon-one meetings with his supervisor, James Sagnis. The trial court
excluded the recordings and related evidence pursuant to the Washington
Privacy Act, RCW 9.73.030, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. Op. at 79. Marin does not dispute that the Privacy Act requires exclusion of secret
tape recordings of "private" conversations. Instead, he incorrectly argues
that his meetings with Sagnis were not "private."

Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals applied a wellestablished, six-factor test in determining that Marin's meetings with Sagnis were "private" under this Court's precedent:

To determine whether a conversation is private under the privacy act, we consider "(1) the subject matter of the communication, (2) the location of the participants, (3) the potential presence of third parties, (4) the role of the interloper, (5) whether the parties 'manifest a subjective intention that it be private,' and (6) whether any subjective intention of privacy is reasonable."

Op. at 8 (quoting *State v. Mankin*, 158 Wn. App. 111, 118, 241 P.3d 421 (2010) and *State v. Christensen*, 153 Wn.2d 186, 193, 102 P.3d 789 (2004)). Under this test, the Court of Appeals found that the meetings

were private because "Marin and Sagnis had lengthy conversations in an office at work that involved only the two of them," and "[n]o third party was present." See Op. at 8.

Plaintiff appears to acknowledge that the Court of Appeals applied the right test. He actually quotes from *State v. Kipp*, 179 Wn.2d 718, 729, 317 P.3d 1029 (2014), in which this Court refused to depart from that same approach. *See* Pl.'s Mot. at 15. He also does not dispute the facts underpinning the Court of Appeals' ruling. Instead, plaintiff effectively argues that this Court should now add a new factor and treat it as dispositive—*i.e.*, he claims that a meeting cannot have been "private" if the participants subsequently "revealed and used" some of the information communicated in that meeting. *See* Pl.'s Mot. at 15. The Court of Appeals found no support for this theory, and plaintiff cites none. Plaintiff's argument also defies commonsense: people use and reveal information learned in private conversations every day, but it does not mean that those conversations retroactively cease to be "private" in the usual sense of the word.

Plaintiff's theory that a meeting between public employees related to discipline cannot be "private" is equally unavailing. *See* Pl.'s Mot. at 15-16. As the trial court found, plaintiff's theory would have perverse implications: "such a construction would mean that supervisors could

record these conversations without the consent of their employees." CP 1092. Further, plaintiff's theory is contrary to *Smith v. Employment*Security Department, 155 Wn. App. 24, 39, 226 P.3d 263 (2010), in which the court held that various meetings between public employees were "private" under the Privacy Act. See Op. at 8.

Finally, plaintiff did not preserve his argument that the recordings were subject to a statutory exception for "unlawful requests and demands," see Pl.'s Mot. at 16, because he did not raise that argument in his briefing before the Court of Appeals. See generally King County App'x.

4. The Court of Appeals Correctly Affirmed Sanctions Against Plaintiff's Counsel for Discovery Misconduct.

Finally, the trial court sanctioned plaintiff's counsel for willfully delaying the production of the secret tape recordings until after Sagnis's deposition. This decision is reviewable only for an abuse of discretion.

See Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 494, 933 P.2d 1036

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